Phlebotomy Simplified

THIRD EDITION

Diana Garza, EdD, MLS(ASCP)^{CM}

Medical Writer/Editor Health Care Consultant Houston, Texas

Kathleen Becan-McBride, EdD, MASCP, MLS(ASCP)^{CM}

Health Care Consultant Medical Writer/Editor Texas Higher Education Consultant Houston, Texas Retired Medical School Professor in the Department of Family & Community Medicine The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston



330 Hudson Street, NY NY 10013

Vice President, Health Science and	Operations Specialist: Maura	Sr. Field Marketing Manager: Brittany
Teacher Education: Julie Levin	Zaldivar-Garcia	Hammond
Alexander	Creative Digital Lead: Mary Siener	Full-Service Project Management and
Director, Portfolio Management: Marlene	Director, Digital Production: Amy Peltier	Composition: Pearson CSC, Subash Raju
McHugh Pratt	Digital Studio Producer, REVEL and	Inventory Manager: Vatche Demirdjian
Development Editor: Sandra Breuer	e-text 2.0: Jeff Henn	Manager, Rights & Permissions: Gina
Portfolio Management Assistant:	Digital Content Team Lead: Brian Prybella	Cheselka
Emily Edling	Digital Content Project Lead:	Interior Design: Pearson CSC
Vice President, Content Production	Christian Lee	Cover Design: Pearson CSC
and Digital Studio: Paul DeLuca	Vice President, Product Marketing: Brad	Cover Art: Hand holding test tube with
Managing Producer, Health Science:	Parkins	blood plasma ready for testing by
Melissa Bashe	Vice President, Field Marketing: David	Alexander Raths/Shutterstock
Content Producer: Faye Gemmellaro	Gesell	Printer/Binder: LSC Communications,
Editorial Project Manager: Ana	Executive Product Marketing Manager:	Inc.
Diaz-Caneja, Pearson CSC	Rachele Strober [HP]	Cover Printer: Phoenix Color/Hagerstown

Credits and acknowledgments for content borrowed from other sources and reproduced, with permission, in this textbook appear on appropriate page within text.

Copyright © **2019**, **2008 by Pearson Education**, **Inc.** All rights reserved. Manufactured in the United States of America. This publication is protected by Copyright and permission should be obtained from the publisher prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or likewise. To obtain permission(s) to use material from this work, please submit a written request to Pearson Education, Inc., Permissions Department, One Lake Street, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey 07458 or you may fax your request to 201-236-3290.

Notice: The author and the publisher of this book have taken care to make certain that the information given is correct and compatible with the standards generally accepted at the time of publication. Nevertheless, as new information becomes available, changes in treatment and in the use of equipment and procedures become necessary. The reader is advised to carefully consult the instruction and information material included in each piece of equipment or device before administration. Students are warned that the use of any techniques must be authorized by their medical advisor, where appropriate, in accordance with local laws and regulations. The publisher and the authors disclaims any liability, loss, injury, or damage incurred as a consequence, directly or indirectly, of the use and application of any of the contents of this book. Many of the designations by manufacturers and seller to distinguish their products are claimed as trademarks. Where those designations appear in this book, and the publisher was aware of a trademark claim, the designations have been printed in initial caps or all caps.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Garza, Diana, author. | Becan-McBride, Kathleen, 1949- author. Title: Phlebotomy simplified / Diana Garza, Kathleen Becan-McBride. Description: Third edition. | Boston : Pearson, 2018. | Includes bibliographical references and index. Identifiers: LCCN 2018023207 | ISBN 9780134718347 | ISBN 0134718348 Subjects: | MESH: Phlebotomy—methods Classification: LCC RB45.15 | NLM WB 381 | DDC 616.07/561—dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018023207

Printed in the United States of America

1 - 18



ISBN-13: 978-0-13-471834-7 ISBN-10: 0-13-471834-8 To my husband, Peter McLaughlin; my son, Kevin; my daughters and their husbands, Lauren and Bryant Black and Kaitlin and Kevin Necas; and my parents for their affection and continuous support.

—Diana Garza

To my husband, Mark; my sons, Patrick and Jonathan, and my daughter-in-law, Danielle; my grandsons, Finnaveir, Mitchell, and Luke; my granddaughter, Madeleine; my parents whom I miss so much; my sister; and my parents-in-law for their support and devotion.

—Kathleen Becan-McBride

Brief Contents

CHAPTER 1	Phlebotomy Practice and Quality Assessment Basics 1
CHAPTER 2	Ethical, Legal, and Regulatory Issues 42
CHAPTER 3	Basic Medical Terminology, the Human Body, and the Cardiovascular System 57
CHAPTER 4	Safety and Infection Control 88
CHAPTER 5	Documentation, Specimen Handling, and Transportation 121
CHAPTER 6	Blood Collection Equipment 150
CHAPTER 7	Preexamination/ Preanalytical Complications 177
CHAPTER 8	Venipuncture Procedures 190
CHAPTER 9	Capillary or Dermal Blood Specimens 249
CHAPTER 10	Pediatric and Geriatric Procedures 269
CHAPTER 11	Special Collections 293

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1	NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Cwompetencies and Chapter Coverage 331
APPENDIX 2	Competency Assessment Tracking Checklist 334
APPENDIX 3	Finding a Job 341
APPENDIX 4	Cautious Use of Abbreviations Acronyms, and Symbols 346
APPENDIX 5	Military Time (24-Hour Clock) 348
APPENDIX 6	Blood Collection and Allowable Volumes from Pediatric and Neonatal Patients 350
APPENDIX 7	Basic Spanish for Specimen Collection Procedures 352
APPENDIX 8	Answers to Study Questions, Case Studies, and Competency Checklists 355
GLOSSARY	367

375

INDEX

Contents

Procedures xi About the Authors xii Preface xiv Acknowledgments xviii

CHAPTER 1 Phlebotomy Practice and Quality Assessment Basics 1

Chapter Learning Objectives 1 Key Terms 1 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 2 Phlebotomy Practice and Definition 2 Members of the Health Care Team and Phlebotomy Duties 5 Professional Competencies and Certifications 7 National Certification and State Licensure 8 Professional Character Traits 12 Professional Appearance and Personal Health 15 Appearance, Grooming, and Physical Fitness 15 Nutrition, Rest, and Exercise 17 Communication Strategies for Phlebotomists 17 The Basics of Communication 17 Verbal Communication 18 The Patient Encounter 21 Communication for Patient Identification 22 Communication in a Clinic or in the Home 24 Role of Family, Visitors, and Significant Others 24 Nonverbal Communication 25 Positive Body Language 26 Negataive Body Language and Distracting Behaviors 28 Cultural Sensitivity 28 Active Listening 30 Telephone and Email Communications 30 Quality Assessment 31 Quality Basics 31 Examples of Stakeholders (Customers) in Health Care 32 A Quality Plan for Phlebotomy Services 32 Tools and Practice Exercise for Performance Assessment 34

Quality in Specimen Collection Services 36 Important Factors Affecting Quality 38 Self Study Study Questions 39 Case Study 1 40 Case Study 2 40 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 40 Competency Assessment 40 References 41

CHAPTER 2 Ethical, Legal, and Regulatory Issues 42

Chapter Learning Objectives 42 Key Terms 42 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 43 Ethics and Laws 43 Basic Legal Issues 44 Legal Terminology 44 Negligence 44 Malpractice 45 Patient's Confidentiality 45 Confidentiality and HIV Exposure 45 Informed Consent and Implied Consent 46 Advice to Avoid Lawsuits 46 Medical Records 48 HIPAA 49 Legal Cases Related to Clinical Laboratory Activities 50 Delmetrea Salter v. Deaconess Family Medical Center et al. 50 Lazernick v. General Hospital of Monroe County (PA 1977) 50 Blood Transfusion Case 50 Helman v. Sacred Heart Hospital 50 Cases Resulting from Improper Technique and Negligence 51 HIV-Related Issues 52 Malpractice Insurance 52 **Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments** (CLIA) 53

Self Study Study Questions 53 Case Study 1 54 Case Study 2 54 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 55 Competency Assessment 55 References 55

CHAPTER 3 Basic Medical Terminology, the Human Body, and the Cardiovascular System 57

Chapter Learning Objectives 57 Key Terms 57 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 58 Basic Medical Terminology 58 Basic Rules for Combining Word Elements 61 The Human Body 65 Major Organ Systems 65 Homeostasis 67 Laboratory Test Panels 68 Cardiovascular System 69 Blood 76 Plasma 78 Serum 80 Hemostasis and Coagulation 80 Self Study Study Questions 83 *Case Study* 83 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 84 Competency Assessment 84 References 87 Resources 87

CHAPTER 4 Safety and Infection Control 88

Chapter Learning Objectives 88 Key Terms 88 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 89 Personal Safety From Infection During Specimen Handling 89 *Exposure Control* 90 *Health Care–Associated (Nosocomial) Infections* 91 Chain of Infection 91 *Pathogen* 91 *Reservoir* 91 *Portal of Exit* 92 *Mode of Transmission* 92

Portal of Entry 93 Susceptible Host 93 Breaking The Chain 94 Standard Precautions 94 Use of Standard Precautions 96 Procedure 4-1 Handwashing Technique 98 Isolation for Hospital Outbreaks 99 Procedure 4-2 Donning and Removing Gloves 99 Protective Environment (Reverse Isolation) 102 Infection Control in Special Hospital Units 102 Specific Isolation Techniques and Procedural Steps 102 Isolation Item Disposal 103 Procedure 4-3 Gowning, Masking, and Gloving 103 Procedure 4-4 Removal of Isolation Gloves, Goggles or Face Shield, Gown, and Mask 105 Procedure 4-5 Disposing of Contaminated Items 107 **Procedure 4-6 Removal of Patient's Specimen from** Isolation Room 108 Isolation Item Disposal 108 Infection Control and Safety in the Clinical Laboratory 109 Disinfectants and Antiseptics 110 Fire Safety 112 Emergency Response to Possible Fire 112 Electrical Safety 114 Radiation Safety 114 Chemical Safety 114 Safety Showers and the Eyewash Station 115 Equipment and Safety in Patients' Rooms 116 Patient Safety Related to Latex Products 116 Disaster Emergency Plan 117 Self Study Study Questions 118 Case Study 119 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 119 Competency Assessment 119 References 120

CHAPTER 5 Documentation, Specimen Handling, and Transportation 121

Chapter Learning Objectives 121 Key Terms 121 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 122 Documentation Basics 122 *Patients' Records 122 Security 125 Policies and Procedures 125* Laboratory Test Requisitions and Labels 126 Transmittal of the Test Request to the Laboratory 128 Specimen Labels and Blood Collection Lists 128 Bar Codes 130 Radio Frequency Identification 130 Biometrics 132 Specimen Handling and Transport 134 Specimen Transportation Guidelines 134 Chilled Specimens 138 Microbiological Specimens 138 Warmed Specimens 139 Specimen Delivery Methods 139 Transportation by Drone 140 Shipping Biohazardous Specimens 141 Specimen Storage 144 Specimen Rejection 145 Reporting Laboratory Results 146 Written, Verbal, and/or Electronic Reports 146 Self Study Study Questions 147 Case Study 147 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 148 Competency Assessment 148 References 149 Resources 149

CHAPTER 6 Blood Collection Equipment 150

Chapter Learning Objectives 150 Key Terms 150 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 151 Introduction to Blood Collection Equipment 151 Venipuncture Equipment 151 Blood Collection Tubes and Additives 154 Yellow-Topped Tubes, Vacuum Culture Vials, and ACD Tubes 155 Light-Blue-Topped Tubes 156 Serum Separation Tubes (Mottled-Topped, Speckled-Topped, and Gold-Topped Tubes) 156 Rapid Serum Tubes (RST) 157 Red-Topped Serum Tubes 157 Orange-Topped Tubes 157 Green-Topped Tubes 157 BD VACUTAINER Barricor Tubes 157 Purple (Lavender)-Topped Tubes 158 Pink-Topped Tubes 158 Gray-Topped Tubes 158 Royal-Blue-Topped and Tan-Topped Tubes 158

Black-Topped Tubes 159 Molecular Diagnostics Tubes 159 Tube Organizer 159 Safety Syringes 160 Safety Needles/Holders 161 The Butterfly Needle (Blood Collection Set) 164 Needle and Other Sharps Disposal 166 Tourniquets 167 Gloves for Blood Collection 168 Antiseptics, Sterile Gauze Pads, and Bandages 168 Microcollection Equipment 168 Lancets and Tubes 168 Specimen Collection Trays 172 Self Study Study Questions 173 Case Study 174 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 174 Competency Assessment 175 References 175 Resources 176

CHAPTER 7 Preexamination/Preanalytical Complications 177

Chapter Learning Objectives 177 Key Terms 177 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 178 Overview 178 Categories of Preanalytical Variables 179 Diet 179 Obesity 180 Damaged, Sclerosed, or Obstructed Veins 180 Allergic Reactions in Blood Collection 180 Mastectomy 180 Edema 180 Thrombosis 181 Vomiting 181 Complications Associated with Test Requests and Identification 181 Identification Discrepancies 181 Time of Collection 181 Requisitions 181 Complications Associated with the Specimen Collection Procedure 182 Tourniquet Pressure and Fist Pumping 182 Reducing Recollections for Blood 182 Fainting (Syncope) 183 Hematomas 183 Petechiae 184

Excessive Bleeding 184 Neurological Complications 184 Hemoconcentration 184 Intravenous Therapy 185 Hemolysis 185 Collapsed Veins 185 Turbid or Lipemic Serum 186 Improper Collection Tube 186 Self Study Study Questions 187 Case Study 188 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 188 Competency Assessment 188 References 189 Resources 189

CHAPTER 8 Venipuncture Procedures 190

Chapter Learning Objectives 190 Key Terms 190 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 191 Blood Collection Process 191 Using Standard Precautions 193 **Procedure 8-1 Mentally Preparing for the Patient** Encounter 194 Assessing, Identifying, and Approaching the Patient 195 Test Requisitions 195 Patient Identification Process 195 Procedure 8-2 The Basics of Patient Identification 196 Inpatient Identification 197 Identification of Patients Who Are Sleeping 198 Identification of Patients Who Are Comatose, Cognitively Impaired, Too Young to Identify Themselves, Do Not Speak the Language, or Have Sensory Impairments 198 Emergency Room Patient Identification 199 Identification of Neonates and Babies 200 *Outpatient/Ambulatory Patient Identification* 202 *Physical Clues for Assessment of the Patient* 202 Identity Errors and High-Risk Situations 204 Approaching the Patient 205 Equipment Selection and Preparation 206 Supplies for Venipuncture 206 Positioning of the Patient 209 Venipuncture Site Selection 210 Alternative Puncture Sites 214 Hard-to-Find Veins 216 Tourniquet Application and Cleansing the Puncture Site 216

Procedure 8-3 Use of a Tourniquet and Vein Palpation 217 Procedure 8-4 Cleansing the Puncture Site 219 Venipuncture Methods 220 Evacuated Tube System and Winged Infusion System, or Butterfly Method 220 Syringe Method 220 **Procedure 8-5 Performing a Venipuncture: Evacuated** Tube Method 221 **Procedure 8-6 Performing a Venipuncture: Winged** Infusion/Butterfly Method 224 **Procedure 8-7 Performing a Venipuncture: Syringe** Method 228 Order of Draw for Blood Collection Tubes 231 Manufacturers of Blood Collection Tubes 231 Specimen Identification and Labeling 233 Caring for the Puncture Site 235 Disposal of Used Supplies and Equipment 235 Other Issues Affecting Venipuncture Practices 235 Procedure 8-8 Leaving the Patient 236 Prioritizing Patients 240 Self Study Study Questions 242 Case Study 1 243 Case Study 2 243 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 243 Competency Assessment 243 References 248 Resources 248

CHAPTER 9 Capillary or Dermal Blood Specimens 249

Chapter Learning Objectives 249 Key Terms 249 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 250 Indications for Skin Puncture 250 Composition of Capillary Blood 252 Collecting Diagnostic Capillary Blood Specimens 252 Supplies for Skin Puncture 252 Skin Puncture Sites 253 Warming the Skin Puncture Site or Lowering the Arm 256 Cleansing the Skin Puncture Site 256 Skin Puncture Procedure 256 **Procedure 9-1 Basic Skin Puncture for Capillary Blood** Collection 257 Order of Collection 261 Blood Films/Slides for Microscopic Analyses 262

Procedure 9-2 Blood Films for Microscopic Slides 262

Supply Disposal, Labeling the Specimen, and Completing the Interaction 265 Self Study

Study Questions 266 Case Study 267 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 267 Competency Assessment 267 References 268

CHAPTER 10 Pediatric and Geriatric Procedures 269

Chapter Learning Objectives 269 Key Terms 269 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 270 Pediatric Patients 270 Preparing Child and Parent 270 Psychological Response to Needles and Pain 272 Distraction Techniques 272 Room Location 272 Equipment Preparation for a Friendlier Environment 272 Positions for Restraining a Child 273 Combative Patients 273 Decreasing the Needlestick Pain 273 Oral Sucrose 274 Precautions to Protect the Child 274 Pediatric Phlebotomy Procedures 274 Microcapillary Skin Puncture 275 Skin Puncture Sites 275 Procedure 10-1 Heelstick Procedure 276 Capillary Blood Gases 280 **Procedure 10-2 Collection for Capillary Blood Gas** Testing 280 Fingerstick on Children 282 Neonatal Screening 282 Procedure 10-3 Collection of Capillary Blood for Neonatal Screening 283 Interferences in Newborn Screening Collections 285 Venipuncture on Children 285 Precautions 286 Equipment for Venipuncture 287 Procedure 287 Geriatric Patients 287 Considerations in Home Care Blood Collections 288 Self Study Study Questions 290 Case Study 291 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 291

Competency Assessment 291 References 292

CHAPTER 11 Special Collections 293

Chapter Learning Objectives 293 Kev Terms 293 NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 294 Blood Cultures 294 **Procedure 11-1 Site Preparation for Blood Culture** Collection 295 Procedure 11-2 Safety Syringe Blood Culture Collection 297 Procedure 11-3 Safety Butterfly Assembly Blood Culture Collection 299 **Procedure 11-4 Evacuated Tube System for Blood** Culture Collection 300 Procedure 11-5 After Blood Culture Collection by the Previous Methods 302 Possible Interfering Factors 302 Glucose Tolerance Test (GTT) and HbA1c 303 Possible Interfering Factor 306 Postprandial Glucose Test 306 Point-of-Care Testing and Glucose Monitoring 307 **Procedure 11-6 Obtaining Blood Specimen for Glucose** Testing (Skin Puncture) 308 Point-of-Care Testing for HbA1c 310 *Ouality in Point-of-Care Testing and Disinfecting POCT* Analyzers 310 Blood Coagulation Monitoring 312 Hematocrit, Hemoglobin, and Other Hematology Parameters 314 Cannulas and Fistulas 314 Donor Room Collections 314 Donor Interview and Selection 314 Collection of Donor's Blood 316 Arterial Blood Gases 316 Radial Artery Puncture Site 317 Brachial and Femoral Artery Puncture Sites 317 Procedure 11-7 Radial ABG Procedure 319 Urine Collections 322 Single-Specimen Collection 323 Timed Collections 325 Procedure 11-8 Collecting a 24-Hour Urine Specimen 325 Self Study Study Questions 327 Case Study 328 Advocating Patient Safety Case Study 328 Competency Assessment 328 References 329

Appendix

Appendix		Appendix 6	Blood Collection and Allowable Volumes from Pediatric and Neonatal Patients 350
Appendix 1	NAACLS Entry-Level Phlebotomist Competencies 331	Appendix	
Appendix 2	Competency Assessment Tracking Checklist 334	Appendix 8	Answers to Study Questions, Case Studies, and Competency Checklists 355
Appendix 3	Finding a Job 341		Studies, and competency checklists 555
Appendix 4	Cautious Use of Abbreviations, Acronyms, and Symbols 346	Glossary 3	67
Appendix 5	Military Time (24-Hour Clock) 348	Index 3	75

Procedures

Procedure 4-1	Handwashing Technique 98
Procedure 4-2	Donning and Removing Gloves 99
Procedure 4-3	Gowning, Masking, and Gloving 103
Procedure 4-4	Removal of Isolation Gloves, Goggles or Face Shield, Gown, and Mask 105
Procedure 4-5	Disposing of Contaminated Items 107
Procedure 4-6	Removal of Patient's Specimen from Isolation Room 108
Procedure 8-1	Mentally Preparing for the Patient Encounter 194
Procedure 8-2	The Basics of Patient Identification 196
Procedure 8-3	Use of a Tourniquet and Vein Palpation 217
Procedure 8-4	Cleansing the Puncture Site 219
Procedure 8-5	Performing a Venipuncture: Evacuated Tube Method 221
Procedure 8-6	Performing a Venipuncture: Winged Infusion/Butterfly Method 224
Procedure 8-7	Performing a Venipuncture: Syringe Method 228
Procedure 8-8	Leaving the Patient 236
Procedure 9-1	Basic Skin Puncture for Capillary Blood Collection 257
Procedure 9-2	Blood Films for Microscopic Slides 262
Procedure 10-1	Heelstick Procedure 276
Procedure 10-2	Collection for Capillary Blood Gas Testing 280
Procedure 10-3	Collection of Capillary Blood for Neonatal Screening 283
Procedure 11-1	Site Preparation for Blood Culture Collection 295
Procedure 11-2	Safety Syringe Blood Culture Collection 297
Procedure 11-3	Safety Butterfly Assembly Blood Culture Collection 299
Procedure 11-4	Evacuated Tube System for Blood Culture Collection 300
Procedure 11-5	After Blood Culture Collection by the Previous Methods 302
Procedure 11-6	Obtaining Blood Specimen for Glucose Testing (Skin Puncture) 308
Procedure 11-7	Radial ABG Procedure 319
Procedure 11-8	Collecting a 24-Hour Urine Specimen 325

About the Authors

Drs. Diana Garza and Kathleen Becan-McBride have a passion for phlebotomy practice and the people who work in this field. They have been collaborators for over 33 years on numerous educational programs, textbooks, and curricular materials; they have participated as presenters at national and international meetings and as advisors for educational programs in phlebotomy and clinical laboratory sciences. Their vast work experience has covered all areas in the clinical laboratory, beginning with their experience in the microbiology (Garza) and clinical chemistry (Becan-McBride) laboratories, moving into management and education as their careers evolved. Drs. Garza and Becan-McBride were involved in numerous courses for laboratory technologists/scientists, nurses, and physicians to teach phlebotomy techniques. As young faculty members, they began to develop curriculum materials for their own use, and in 1984 collaborated in publishing one of the first comprehensive textbooks focused entirely on phlebotomy practices. Their successful coauthoring partnership has endured for over three decades and has resulted in numerous editions of Phlebotomy textbooks. Both became tenured professors at their respective institutions, and over the years they received numerous grants for phlebotomy education as well as other health care initiatives. Their experience spans from academic medical centers to smaller clinical laboratories, industry, and international collaborations and consultations. They have also served on certification and accreditation committees-both for clinical/medical laboratory scientists and for phlebotomists-and they have had editorial responsibilities for several journals and continuing education publications, in both print and electronic versions. Aside from this current edition, they also recently completed the Phlebotomy Handbook: Blood Specimen Collection from Basic to Advanced, 10th edition, often referred to as the "Gold Standard" of phlebotomy practice.



Diana Garza received her Bachelor of Science degree in Biology from Vanderbilt University in Nashville, TN, followed by an additional year to complete her Medical Technology requirements at Vanderbilt University Medical Center. Her interest in laboratory sciences and in teaching led her to earn a Masters in Science Education at the Peabody School of Vanderbilt University. She worked at Vanderbilt Medical Center in the Microbiology department while she was a graduate student. A move back to her home state of Texas led her to a collaborative graduate program with Baylor College of Medicine and the University of Houston, and resulted in her Doctorate of Education in Allied Health Education and Administration, all while she worked in the Microbiology Section at the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC). Her laboratory and teaching experience continued at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston and for many years at MDACC, where she later became the Administrative/Technical Director of the Division of Laboratory Medicine. In 1990, she joined the faculty of Texas Woman's University-Houston Center, where she taught quality improvement online courses, interdisciplinary management courses, and became editor of several journals and continuing education publications. She was extensively involved in curriculum review processes, and program and university accreditation. She has taught extensively both nationally and internationally; has been a reviewer/inspector in many regulatory processes; has participated in accreditation procedures; and has authored, edited, and published numerous manuscripts in the field of phlebotomy, health care, and quality management. She currently sits on numerous advisory boards, selectively consults with health care organizations and companies, and continues her medical writing/editing career.

Kathleen Becan-McBride recently retired from the Directorship of Community and Educational Outreach at The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (UTHealth) and tenured Medical School Professor in the Department of Family and Community Medicine at UTHealth. She received her Bachelor of Science degree in Biology from the University of Houston with completion of her medical laboratory science education at St. Luke's Episcopal Hospital in Houston, Texas, and national board certification as a Medical Laboratory Scientist. While working at St. Luke's Episcopal Hospital Clinical Laboratory, she received a full scholarship to the University of Houston/Baylor College of Medicine collaborative Masters in Allied Health Education and Administration Program. This inspired Dr. Becan-McBride to continue her studies, and she completed her Doctorate in Higher Education and Administration while teaching in the Medical Laboratory Science program and Physician Assistant program at University of Texas Medical Branch Galveston and Medical Laboratory Technician program at Houston Community College. She then became a faculty member and Chair of the Clinical Laboratory Science Department at UTHealth. And in more recent years, she has become the Director of Community and Educational Outreach, Director of Workforce and Resource Development, and Professor in the Medical School Department of Family and Community Medicine.

Dr. Becan-McBride has published 24 books and more than 55 articles and has been on numerous national and international health care advisory boards and several editorial boards for health care journals. She has had research projects related to the medical laboratory sciences and also the community (i.e., UV/TB Prevention Research Project in Homeless Shelters in Houston). Most recently, she has received a National Institute of Health (NIH) grant in research on new point-of-care (POC) technology as defined through blood collection techniques. Dr. Becan-McBride is on educational advisory boards for medical laboratory science educational programs and community outreach programs. She has had invitational medical laboratory science presentations nationally and internationally to Singapore, China, Russia, France, South America, New Zealand, and, more recently, Croatia. She was the elected Chair of the ASCP Board of Certification Board of Governors from 2008 to 2010 and received the ASCP Mastership Award in 2012, ASCP Board of Certification Distinguished Service Award in 2012, and ASCP Mentorship Award in 2016. Dr. Becan-McBride continues her Texas Higher Education Consultants' activities in writing, presenting and editing, mainly in the expanding area of blood collection.



Preface

Phlebotomy Simplified, 3rd edition, is designed for beginning or entry-level health care students and practitioners who are responsible for blood and specimen collections (medical assistants, nurses, phlebotomists, medical laboratory technicians, medical laboratory assistants, clinical assistants, technologists, and scientists), respiratory therapists, and others). The primary goals of the book are:

- to link novice health care workers to the most updated, basic standards of phlebotomy practice
- to promote essentials for safe practices for patients and health care workers and for high quality, effective blood specimen collection
- to provide step-wise basic specimen collection procedures for entry-level phlebotomists
- to enhance patient satisfaction and health outcomes

It is tailored to entry-level phlebotomists; for example, the medical terminology section provides terms that entry-level phlebotomists need to know to begin their first job. *Phlebotomy Simplified, 3rd edition,* has been reconfigured so that Student Learning Objectives are a more detailed and specific extension of the National Accrediting Committee for Clinical Laboratory Sciences' (NAACLS) "entry-level" competencies. Both NAACLS and Student Learning Objectives are now listed at the beginning of each chapter. The chapter-specific Student Learning Objectives cover a range of basic to intermediate techniques and concepts for phlebotomists. The key features include the following:

- Communication, clinical, technical, and safety skills that any health care worker will use in the practice of phlebotomy and other specimen collection procedures
- Chapter 6 featuring new equipment and emphasizing the most updated and comprehensive safety features of phlebotomy supplies and equipment, with new images from key manufacturers in the industry
- The latest information about current industry standards from the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI), World Health Organization (WHO), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), risk and error reduction, patient and worker safety, needlestick prevention, and The Joint Commission
- Provides basic information about quality issues to improve technical skills and patient outcomes
- Provides technical procedures and illustrations that are indispensable for phlebotomists

We view this textbook as a fundamental and essential guide to basic standards of practice in the field.

The style, format, and length of the third edition are similar to the popular earlier editions. It is an easy, step-by-step, practice-oriented approach to blood collection procedures that can be implemented in a variety of settings, including hospitals, ambulatory clinics, home health care, and pediatric clinics. This edition has many new images, figures, and charts, including detailed anatomical figures of the arm and hand and photos of new technology, equipment, and supplies.

The *Table of Contents*, organized in 11 chapters, follows the order in which a phlebotomist is educated and how he or she approaches the patient.

Chapter 1 Phlebotomy Practice and Quality Assessment Basics Chapter 2 Ethical, Legal, and Regulatory Issues Chapter 3 Basic Medical Terminology, the Human Body, and the Cardiovascular System Chapter 4 Safety and Infection Control Chapter 5 Documentation, Specimen Handling, and Transportation Chapter 6 Blood Collection Equipment Chapter 6 Blood Collection Equipment Chapter 7 Preexamination/Preanalytical Complications Chapter 8 Venipuncture Procedures Chapter 9 Capillary or Dermal Blood Specimens Chapter 10 Pediatric and Geriatric Procedures Chapter 11 Special Collections Appendices Glossary

At the end of each chapter are study questions, problem-solving cases, competency assessments, and a section entitled Advocating Patient Safety. This section in each chapter focuses on preventable errors and risk reduction, a major focus for health care professionals. This section covers a short commentary or case analysis with discussion questions that specifically relate to the patient's safety. Competency Assessment checklists assure that objectives are covered through self-assessment.

The Appendices provide practical procedures (e.g., Finding a Job, Using Military Time, etc.) and important updated terms, phrases, and symbols for beginning workers. For example, phrases in English/Spanish are included for a more comprehensive and safe approach to patient and specimen identification. In addition, the Glossary provides definitions that relate to phlebotomy practice and includes all key terms from the text.

All in all, we have made this textbook as practical, educational, and useful as possible for those who are striving to begin a career in phlebotomy.

Key Features of the Third Edition

- Detailed anatomical artwork depicting relationship of blood vessels to nerves in the arm and hand
- Expanded section about vein selection and preparation
- Incorporation of new CLSI standards
- Updates and new images of the latest phlebotomy equipment and supplies
- Expanded sections on venipuncture complications (preanalytical errors) and methods to avoid them
- Expanded section on "Finding a Job"
- New and updated appendix about acceptable blood volumes that can be withdrawn from pediatric and neonatal patients
- Updated sections on equipment, supplies, and patient identification technology
- Colorful photographs that show procedural steps and equipment
- Flowcharts that provide additional easy-to-follow procedures
- Case studies to encourage real-life problem solving

- Competency Assessments that provide a "Check Yourself" feature or can be used by instructors for evaluation
- Updated medical terminology section and glossary terms that are pertinent to phlebotomists
- Sections on age-related competencies and communication
- Clinical alert symbols indicating that *extra* caution is needed to prevent preanalytical errors, or highlight circumstances that may harm patients and/or health care workers
- Step-by-step procedural information presented using an on-the-job perspective
- Key terms, objectives, cases, and study questions provided for each chapter
- A color chart of types of blood collection tubes relating appropriate color coding with additives
- Appendices containing essential elements for Spanish phrases, symbols and units of measurement, military time, and NAACLS Competencies
- Vital to instructors and students, NAACLS Competencies linked to the chapter where the information is covered with the level of coverage (basic or intermediate) indicated.

More advanced content is available in our new textbook entitled *Phlebotomy Handbook*, 10th edition.

Video Program

A video library is available for viewing on The Phlebotomy Handbook's Student Resources Page (www.pearsonhighered.com/healthprofessionsresources). The videos emphasize safety, infection control, effective communication, quality assessment, and avoiding errors. The footage correlates with some of the procedures shown in Phlebotomy Handbook, 10th edition, and was filmed in collaboration with the authors. The video series is ideal for independent self-study or review for those aiming to enhance their understanding and performance. It is also an excellent classroom teaching tool for instructors. The series provides an additional teaching tool to support National Association for Accreditation of Clinical Laboratory Sciences competencies for accredited programs in Phlebotomy

Additional Resources for Educators

This third edition has online/electronic companion resources that are cross-referenced to the text. The Instructor's Resource Manual contains a wealth of material to help faculty plan and manage their course. It includes a detailed lecture outline, a complete test bank, teaching tips, and more for each chapter. For instructors, log on to https://www.pearson.com/us/higher-education.html to access the complete test bank and PowerPoint lectures that contain discussion points with embedded color images from the book.

An Accompanying Guide for Examination Review

Available for separate purchase is Pearson's *SUCCESS! in Phlebotomy* 8th edition. This is an aid to students and health care workers preparing for a certification examination. It has over 850 exam-type questions and an accompanying website with a simulated board examination and referenced explanatory answers. Students can practice taking the simulated examination in print or via computer.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to many generous people, product suppliers, manufacturing companies, professional organizations, and health care organizations for assistance in preparing this and previous editions. We are particularly grateful to BD Vacutainer Systems, Greiner Bio-One, Marketlab, the American Society for Clinical Pathology, The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC), Memorial Hermann Health Care System, and The University of Texas Houston Health Science Center for their support throughout many stages of our previous and current editions.

We greatly appreciate our working relationships with our editors and copy editors who have encouraged us and improved this third edition. Special thanks go to Sandra Brauer.

We are eternally thankful to our families who have encouraged and supported our work throughout the years. They hold a special place in our hearts.

Diana Garza Kathleen Becan-McBride